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Burke, Kathryn MS

From: Reilly, Anthony MR 1
Sent: Friday, 9 April 2021 11:20 AM
To: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1
Cc: Military Superannuation Policy; Webster, Donna MS; Singh, Ingrid MS
Subject: DELDC contrubtion to brief [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: DELDC contribution to brief on DFRDB CDDA claims.docx

OFFICIAL 

Hi Lewis 
 
Here is our contribution to the brief. Let me know if you want to discuss. 
 
Donna Webster will be A/g Director here for the next 6 weeks, so she is the best contact officer. But Ingrid and I are 
also available to discuss, if need be. 
 
Regards 
 
Tony 
 
Anthony Reilly 
Employment Law and Discretionary Claims 
Office of General Counsel - Defence 
Defence Legal  
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Department of Defence | Associate Secretary Group 
CP2-4-018 | Campbell Park Offices | CANBERRA ACT 2600  

: +61 2 6203 6280 | 📱: | 

 
 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
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6. Answers to specific questions about management of CDDA claims by DFRDB members 

The Committee has asked specific questions about the management of the CDDA claims lodged by 
DFRDB members.  The questions and Defence’s answers are as follows: 

 How does this process work? Specifically, how does it work in relation to DFRDB members 
who are of the view they have suffered financial detriment due to the advice provided by 
Defence? For example, does Defence engage an actuary to review individual claims of 
financial detriment? 

 
DFRDB members lodged claims on a claim form specifically designed for these claims.  In each case, 
Defence then contacted the claimant by email, mail or telephone to discuss the issues arising in the 
claim.  In particular, their attention was drawn to the relevant conclusions of the Ombudsman: that 
there had been defective administration in the information supplied to members but that generally 
members were better off having commuted than had they not commuted.  Claimants were asked to 
turn their mind to how their situation might have differed from the rest of their cohort, who were 
shown not to have sustained any detriment based on the modelling undertaken for the 
Ombudsman.   
 
The Australian Government Actuary was consulted informally on some issues raised in specific 
claims. 
 
Claimants received a decision with reasons.   
 

 Is any advice/assistance provided to those considering making a claim? 
 
Information about how to make a claim can be found on the Defence website at Directorate Of 
Special Financial Claims : Directorates : Department of Defence. 
 
The special claim form for DFRDB members can be accessed on that page. 
 
Several members rang or emailed before they lodged a claim and Defence discussed with them the 
issues they should turn their minds to. 
 

 How many people have sought advice/assistance? 
 
In addition to the 38 DFRDB members who made claims, there were telephone or email enquiries 
from a handful of others who did not choose to make a claim. 
 

 How many people have lodged a claim? 
 
38 
 

 How many claims have been successful? 
 
0 
 
Consistent with the Ombudsman’s conclusion, Defence accepts there was defective administration 
in the information supplied to members before 2004 (even though there were cases where it was 
apparent or acknowledged that the member did know in advance of their election that the pension 
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would not be restored to the pre-commutation amount when they reached the life expectancy 
factor age.) 
 
On examination of claimants’ circumstances, none were able to show how their situation differed 
from those who the Ombudsman’s modelling showed were actually better off having commuted.  
Most were in the cohort who used the commutation lump sum to help them purchase a house. 
 
Generally, the claimants did not dispute they were better off having commuted than had they not 
commuted.  Their complaint about the DFRDB scheme and the Ombudsman’s conclusion was that 
the scheme was not as generous as they were led to believe it would be.  
 
For compensation to be payable under the CDDA scheme, claimants must be able to show that they 
have sustained detriment of some kind.  The distinction between financial detriment and financial 
disappointment is addressed in the CDDA Guidelines: 
 

Financial detriment can be distinguished from financial disappointment - for example, where a 
formal assessment results in the amount of an entitlement being less than a “ballpark” figure 
given to a person at the time they made inquiries. A claimant does not suffer financial 
detriment merely because they were correctly not granted a benefit after being advised that 
they would receive that benefit, or if a debt was raised due to a benefit being incorrectly paid 
(CDDA Guidelines, paragraph 57, emphasis added). 

 
On that test, none of the claimants were able to show they had suffered detriment.  
 

 How many have been refused? 
 
36 claims were refused.  2 claims were withdrawn after discussion or correspondence. 
 
2 claimants sought internal review of decisions.  Both decision were affirmed on review.  No 
claimants sought review by the Commonwealth Ombudsman. 
 

 Who is the decision maker in the department in relation to claims? 
 
The Director, Employment Law and Discretionary Claims (previously Director, Special Financial 
Claims), in Defence Legal, made most of the decisions.  A handful of decisions were made by the 
Assistant Director.  One review decision was made by General Counsel-Defence. 
 

 How has the existence of the CDDA scheme been communicated to DFRDB members? 
 
Members were directed to the relevant webpage in the letter of apology from the Secretary and CDF 
dated 3 December 2019, which was published on the Defence website and as an annexure to the 
Ombudsman’s report.  Members are also directed to the apology and relevant webpage from: 
 
the Defence website: :DFRDB Ombudsman investigation : Department of Defence  
 
the Ombudsman’s website: Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits (DFRDB) - Commonwealth 
Ombudsman 
 
CSC’s website:  DFRDB Commutation Inquiry (csc.gov.au)  
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Defence is also aware that affected DFRDB members were encouraged to claim by the Australian 
Defence Force Retirees Association Inc (ADFRA) on its website and in its newsletter: Australian 
Defence Force Retirees Association (adfra.org).  Many of the claims were copied directly from a 
template supplied to claimants by ADFRA. 
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Hoogland, Lewis MR 1

From: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1
Sent: Thursday, 13 May 2021 3:01 PM
To: Prout, Cathy MRS
Subject: CDDA TPs
Attachments: CDDA TPs.docx

Categories: Green Category

Hey Cathy  
 
Here are the updated CDDA TPs.  
 
Cheers  
 
Lewis 
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Compensation for Detriment caused by Defective 
Administration (CDDA)  

 The Commonwealth Ombudsman found that while unlikely, 

he could not rule out that there may be cases that a member 

may have suffered a financial detriment due to being 

provided misleading information. He deemed that the CDDA 

scheme would be suitable for any such cases to be 

considered. 

Questions: How does this process work? Specifically, 

how does it work in relation to DFRDB members who 

are of the view they have suffered financial detriment 

due to the advice provided by Defence? For example, 

does Defence engage an actuary to review individual 

claims of financial detriment? 

DFRDB members lodged claims on a claim form specifically 

designed for these claims.  In each case, Defence then 

contacted the claimant by email, mail or telephone to 

discuss the issues arising in the claim.  In particular, their 

attention was drawn to the relevant conclusions of the 

Ombudsman: that there had been defective administration in 

the information supplied to members but that generally 

members were better off having commuted than had they 

not commuted.  Claimants were asked to turn their mind to 

how their situation might have differed from the rest of their 

cohort, who were shown not to have sustained any 

detriment based on the modelling undertaken for the 

Ombudsman.  The Australian Government Actuary was 
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consulted informally on some issues raised in specific claims. 

Claimants received a decision with reasons.   

 

Question: Is any advice or assistance provided to 
those considering making a claim? 

 
Information about how to make a claim can be found on the 
Defence website at Directorate f Special Financial Claims.   

 
The special claim form for DFRDB members can be accessed 
on that page. 

 
Several members rang or emailed before they lodged a claim 
and Defence discussed with them the issues they should turn 
their minds to. 
 
Question: How many people have sought advice or 
assistance? 
 
In addition to the 38 DFRDB members who made claims, 
there were telephone or email enquiries from a handful of 
others who did not choose to make a claim. 
 

Question: How many people made a claim and how 

many were successful and unsuccessful? 

As at 12 May 2021, Defence has received 38 claims under 

the CDDA scheme. 36 claims were assessed and have been 

unsuccessful and two claims were withdrawn after discussion 

or correspondence.  

Two claims of the 36 sought an internal review of Defence’s 

original decision. Both claims the original decision was 

affirmed. 
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Question: How was the internal review process done 

and who completed these decisions? 

Internal reviews under the CDDA Scheme are at the 

discretion of the relevant Agency.  Defence, is open to 

reviewing decisions if there is new evidence or a new 

argument to support the application.   

The two decisions that were reviewed, were on the basis 

that the applicant raised new arguments that had not been 

addressed in the original decisions. These decisions were 

signed off by the A/g Director and General Counsel of 

Defence Legal.   

Question: Who is the decision maker in the 
department in relation to claims? 

 
The Director, Employment Law and Discretionary Claims 
(previously Director, Special Financial Claims), in Defence 
Legal, made most of the decisions.  A handful of decisions 
were made by the Assistant Director.  One review decision 
was made by General Counsel-Defence. 
 

 

Question: Why were the claims denied? On examination 

of claimants’ circumstances, none of the 36 applications 

were able to show how their situation differed from those 

who the Ombudsman’s commissioned modelling that showed 

they were generally better off having commuted. Most were 

in the cohort who used the commutation lump sum to help 

them purchase a house. 
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Question: How has the existence of the CDDA scheme 

been communicated to DFRDB members? 

Members were directed to the relevant webpage in the letter 

of apology from the Secretary and CDF dated 3 December 

2019, which was published on the Defence website and as 

an annexure to the Ombudsman’s report.  Members are also 

directed to the apology and relevant webpage on the 

Defence website. 

The Commonwealth Ombudsman’s and CSC website also 

directed members to relevant webpage. 

 

Defence is also aware that affected DFRDB members were 

encouraged to claim by the Australian Defence Force 

Retirees Association Inc (ADFRA) on its website and in its 

newsletter. Many of the claims were copied directly from a 

template supplied to claimants by ADFRA 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
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
Sent: Thursday, 13 May 2021 3:14 PM
To: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1
Subject: RE: Defence submission DFRDB Senate enquiry [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hi Lewis 
 
Yes. Paras 88‐90 of the CDDA Guidelines refer. 
 
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
 
 

From: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1 <lewis.hoogland1@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Thursday, 13 May 2021 3:12 PM 
To: Reilly, Anthony MR 1 <anthony.reilly1@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: Defence submission DFRDB Senate enquiry [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 
Hi Tony  
 
Are you able to confirm if you are happy (and it’s correct) with the below statement?  
 

In accordance with the CDDA guidelines administered by the Department of Finance, internal reviews 
under the CDDA scheme are at the discretion of the relevant Agency.  
 
Cheers  
 
Lewis Hoogland  
Military Superannuation Policy 
Directorate of Military Remuneration 
People Policy & Employment Conditions 
Department of Defence 
 
BP33-03-083 | Brindabella Park | PO Box 7909 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610 
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P: (02) 5109 2368 E: lewis.hoogland1@defence.gov.au  
 
 
 

From: Reilly, Anthony MR 1 <anthony.reilly1@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Wednesday, 12 May 2021 2:43 PM 
To: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1 <lewis.hoogland1@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: Defence submission DFRDB Senate enquiry [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Lewis 
 
Answers below in red. 
 
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
Sent: Wednesday, 12 May 2021 2:19 PM 
To: Reilly, Anthony MR 1 <anthony.reilly1@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: Defence submission DFRDB Senate enquiry [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Tony  
 
I am just preparing some of the briefing notes for the DFRDB Senate inquiry and David Nockels has asked for some 
specific information regarding the CDDA process.  
 
He is looking for information about the internal review process. In particular for the two claimants who had an 
internal review performed, who performed these internal reviews and why? And any explanation/guidance on this 
internal review process was established?  
 
Review of decisions under the CDDA Scheme are at the discretion of the relevant Agency. Most agencies, including
Defence, are open to reviewing decisions if there is new evidence or new argument to support the application. The
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3

two decisions that were reviewed  were on the basis that the applicant raised new arguments had
not been addressed in the original decisions. Generally, if someone asks for a review, we will give it to them one way
or the other. were the only two who asked. One was signed off by the A/g Director and the other by
General Counsel – Defence. 
 
 
Also if we can just confirm that the previous numbers are still up to date: 38 Claims in total.  

2 Claims withdrawn.  
36 Claims refused/declined  
2 Claims sought internal review. 
(both these cases were affirmed) 
Yes 

 
Can we also confirm that if the claimant was not satisfied with the decision they must seek a review from the 
Commonwealth Ombudsman and Defence had no roll in this process? Yes. No one went to the Ombudsman. 
 
Happy to discuss this further if needed just let me know.  
 
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
 
 

From: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1  
Sent: Tuesday, 11 May 2021 10:38 AM 
To: Reilly, Anthony MR 1 <anthony.reilly1@defence.gov.au> 
Cc: Prout, Cathy MRS <cathy.prout@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: Defence submission DFRDB Senate enquiry [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Tony  
 
As discussed with Cathy, please see attached Defence’s submission and the Brief for the DFRDB Senate Inquiry.  
 
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
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I was wondering if you’re able to provide some updated scheme member numbers for DFRDB in preparation for the 
Senate Committee hearing Defence and CSC are attending next week. If we can get this data as current as possible it 
would be greatly appreciated.  
 
Are you able to provide the following information?  
 
 

 Number of DFRDB contributors with average age:  

 Average years of service for DFRDB Contributors:  

 Number of DFRDB pensioners with average age:  

 Number of DFRDB reversionary pensioners with average age:  

 DFRDB orphan pensioners:  
 
 
Also if there is any other data or information that CSC are using for the hearing if it could be provided it would be 
greatly appreciated.  
 
If you have any questions please let me know.  
 
Cheers  
 
Lewis Hoogland  
Military Superannuation Policy 
Directorate of Military Remuneration 
People Policy & Employment Conditions 
Department of Defence 
 
BP33‐03‐083 | Brindabella Park | PO Box 7909 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610 
P: (02) 5109 2368 E: lewis.hoogland1@defence.gov.au  
 
 

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
 
 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
SECURITY WARNING 
This electronic communication (including any attached files) may contain confidential and/or legally privileged 
information and is intended only for the use of the person to whom it is addressed. If you are not the intended 
recipient, you do not have permission to read, use, disseminate, distribute, copy or retain any part of this 
communication or its attachments in any form. If this e‐mail was sent to you by mistake, please take the time to 
notify the sender so that they can identify the problem and avoid any more mistakes in sending email to you. The 
unauthorised use of information contained in this communication or its attachments may result in legal action 
against any person who uses it. 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
CSC: AFSL 238069 ABN 48 882 817 243 RSE L0001397  
ADF Super : RSE R1077063  
CSS: RSE R1004649 
MSBS: RSE R1000306 
PSS: RSE R1004595 
PSSap: RSE R1004601 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
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Burke, Kathryn MS

From: Mitchell, Nicholas MR 4
Sent: Monday, 17 May 2021 3:49 PM
To: Prout, Cathy MRS
Cc: Military Superannuation Policy
Subject: FW: DFRDB appropriations [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hi Cathy, 
 
I got the email below from Finance, which wasn’t particularly useful. 
 
I’ve tried to figure it out based on the PBS, but not all information is there for the calculations. I have also looked at 
CSC. There is a split between what is appropriated and then provided to CSC – which appears to be the DRFDB line 
on table 16 of the Defence PBS – p43 and what is the notional amounts which is the expenses not requiring 
appropriation line on the same table 16. 
 
Could you go directly back to the Finance Super Branch to see if they have something that can be summarised for 
this. They are supposed to come back to me, but who knows how long that will take. 
 
They might be able to give you a few lines from their estimates brief on the civilian super schemes appropriations 
that can be used for yours. 
 
Happy to discuss. 
 
 
Nick Mitchell  
Assistant Director 
Commonwealth Budget Coordination  

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Department of Defence | Defence Finance Group  
Russell Offices, R1-2-B138 | PO Box 7904 | CANBERRA BC ACT 2610  

 
 
 

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
 
 

From: @finance.gov.au>  
Sent: Friday, 14 May 2021 3:33 PM 
To: Mitchell, Nicholas MR 4 <nicholas.mitchell4@defence.gov.au>; BFR ‐ AAU ‐ Defence AAU and Investment 
Programming <DefenceAAUandInvestmentProgramming@finance.gov.au> 
Cc: Guan, Sylvia MRS <sylvia.guan@defence.gov.au>; Cosgrove, Michael MR 1 
<michael.cosgrove1@defence.gov.au>; Kalia, Akanksha MISS <akanksha.kalia@defence.gov.au>; Shanmuganathan, 
Pavithiran MR <pavithiran.shanmuganathan@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: DFRDB appropriations [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
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SEC=OFFICIAL 

Hi Nick, 
 
Thanks for checking with us. 
 
Our Special Appropriations team has suggested to refer to RMG100: Guide to Appropriations which contains high 
level information on what an appropriation is, including special appropriation, to assist with the development of 
your brief. 
 
We have also reached out to our colleagues who look after the Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme and will let 
you know once we have heard back from them. 
 
Kind regards, 

 

 
 

| Assistant Director 
Defence AAU and Investment Programming | Defence Branch 
Government and Defence Division | Budget and Financial Reporting Group 
Department of Finance 
T:   
E: @finance.gov.au 
A: One Canberra Avenue, FORREST ACT 2603 

 
SEC=OFFICIAL 

 

From: Mitchell, Nicholas MR 4 <nicholas.mitchell4@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Friday, 14 May 2021 11:01 AM 
To: BFR ‐ AAU ‐ Defence AAU and Investment Programming 
<DefenceAAUandInvestmentProgramming@finance.gov.au> 
Cc: Guan, Sylvia MRS <sylvia.guan@defence.gov.au>; Cosgrove, Michael MR 1 
<michael.cosgrove1@defence.gov.au>; Kalia, Akanksha MISS <akanksha.kalia@defence.gov.au>; Shanmuganathan, 
Pavithiran MR <pavithiran.shanmuganathan@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: FW: DFRDB appropriations [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Defence AAU, 
 
We are looking to put together an explanation of how DFRDB (and likely all the closed military super schemes) works 
with appropriations. 
 
It will be useful to get Finance’s input as I think we need to discuss relationship with CSC and that there are notional 
contributions. Could you look around there to see if there are any standard words that Finance uses to explain the 
closed Commonwealth super schemes and how they operate at a high level around appropriations. This is 
particularly given this will be Senate Estimates and any consistent words can be used (possibly from Finance 
Ministers Estimates Brief).  
 
This needs to be no more than a paragraph of content. Looking for COB Monday response. 
 
Happy to discuss 
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
 
 

From: Prout, Cathy MRS <cathy.prout@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Thursday, 13 May 2021 4:30 PM 
To: Mitchell, Nicholas MR 4 <nicholas.mitchell4@defence.gov.au> 
Cc: Military Superannuation Policy <military.superannuationpolicy@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: DFRDB appropriations [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Nick, 
 
As discussed, if possible, could we have a really high level explanation of how appropriations work for DFRDB? 
 
David Nockels (FASPPC) is appearing before a senate committee next Thursday about an inquiry into DFRDB and he 
would like a broad understanding of how appropriations work (I.e. DoF gives Defence an amount etc) in case he is 
asked. If it is a “this should be referred to DoF” then that’s fine. 
 
If possible, a response by Monday would be fantastic. We are actually hoping to have the brief with David 
tomorrow, but can slip extra stuff in for him if needed before Thursday. 
 
Thanks 
 
Cathy 
 
Cathy Prout 
Military Superannuation Policy 
Directorate of Military Remuneration 
People Policy & Employment Conditions 
Department of Defence 
 
BP33-03-082 | Brindabella Park | PO Box 7909 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610 
P: (02) 5109 8335 M: E: cathy.prout@defence.gov.au  
 
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
Sent: Monday, 17 May 2021 1:54 PM
To: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1; Webster, Donna MS
Cc: Military Superannuation Policy
Subject: RE: DFRDB Senate Inquiry talking points [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: DFRDB Talking Points with DELDC suggestions.docx

Categories: Green Category

OFFICIAL 

Hi Lewis 
 
I have made a few relatively minor suggestions in track mode. Let me know if you want to discuss. 
 
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

: +61 2 6203 6280 | 📱:  | 

 
 
 

 
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
Sent: Monday, 17 May 2021 12:37 PM 
To: Reilly, Anthony MR 1 ; Webster, Donna MS  
Cc: Military Superannuation Policy  
Subject: DFRDB Senate Inquiry talking points [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Tony and Donna  
 
Just as an FYI please see attached the draft talking points and questions for the DFRDB Senate Inquiry.  
 
If you have any questions or concerns please let me know.  
 
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
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DFRDB Senate Inquiry Talking Points 

1. DFRDB Scheme Overview  

 The Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits (DFRDB) 

scheme is a fully unfunded defined benefit arrangement that was 

introduced in 1973 following the 1972 report of the Joint Select 

Committee (the Jess Committee). 

 The Jess Committee recommended that the scheme at the time, 

the Defence Forces Retirement Benefits (DFRB) scheme, be 

closed due to its complexity. 

 DFRDB closed to new members on 30 September 1991 when the 

Military Superannuation and Benefits Scheme (MSBS) was 

introduced, following the 1990 Cole Review. 

 Contributing members of DFRDB were able to elect to transfer 

from DFRDB to MSBS from 1 October 1991 until  

30 September 1992. It was not compulsory for members to 

transfer schemes. 

 From 1 July 2016 DFRDB was closed to re-entering members 

which were DFRDB pensioners who re-joined the ADF.  

 As at 14 May 2021, the DFRDB scheme consisted of:  

DFRDB contributors (current serving ADF members) 
Total Average age Average years of service 
898 54.6 35.1 

 

DFRDB pensioners 
  Ex-serving ADF members Spouses Children 
Total 42,450 10,547 163 
Average 
age 68.3 74.8 17.2 
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2. Reviews of DFRDB (including 2019 Ombudsman)  

 The DFRDB scheme or elements of have been reviewed from time 

to time since the scheme began in 1973. A number of 

amendments to the scheme have occurred during this period, 

with some to the benefit of members. 

 The most recent review of DFRDB was the 2019 independent 

investigation undertaken by the Commonwealth Ombudsman into 

the administration of the DFRDB scheme. 

 The Ombudsman found that misleading information amounting to 

defective administration was provided to some members by 

Defence personnel in relation to the DFRDB commutation benefit.  

 The Commonwealth Ombudsman was satisfied the decision to 

commute was not likely to have to have caused a financial loss, 

relative to the other available option of not commuting and 

concluded that it was not appropriate to recommend 

compensation in a broad sense.  
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3. Compensation for Detriment caused by Defective 
Administration scheme (CDDA scheme)  

 The Commonwealth Ombudsman found that while unlikely, he 

could not rule out that there may be cases that a member may 

have suffered a financial detriment due to being provided 

misleading information. He deemed that the CDDA scheme would 

be suitable for any such cases to be considered. 

 As at 12 May 2021, Defence has received 38 claims under the 

CDDA scheme. 36 claims were assessed and found to be 

unsuccessful. Two claims were withdrawn after discussion or 

correspondence.  

 Two of the 36 claims assessed subsequently sought an internal 

review of Defence’s original decision.  

 In accordance with the CDDA guidelines administered by the 

Department of Finance, internal reviews under the CDDA scheme 

are at the discretion of the relevant Agency. Defence is open to 

reviewing decisions if there is new evidence or a new argument to 

support the application.  

 Defence Legal accepted two decisions for review on the basis that 

the applicant raised new arguments that had not been addressed 

in the original decisions. The original decision was upheld in both 

cases despite the new arguments raised, as the members were 

still unable to demonstrate a financial detriment. The review 

decisions were signed off by the Acting Director and General 

Counsel of - Defence Legal.  
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 On examination of claimants’ circumstances, none of the 36 

applications were able to show how their situation differed from 

those who the Ombudsman’s commissioned modelling showed 

were generally better off having commuted. Most were in the 

cohort who used the commutation lump sum to help them 

purchase a house. As the claimants could not provide evidence of 

a financial detriment occurring on the basis ofas a result of 

receiving misleading information, their CDDA claims cannot be 

approved.  

4. Accuracy of information provided to DFRDB members   

 The Ombudsman found that there were numerous examples of 

incorrect written and verbal information being circulated within 

Defence from commencement of the scheme in 1973 onwards. 

 From the early 2000’s onwards, the Ombudsman reported that 

Defence information provided to DFRDB members regarding 

commutation has been correct and clear and explains that 

commutation results in a permanent reduction to the pension.  

 The Secretary of Defence and the Chief of the Defence Force 

issued a joint apology for Defence having provided incorrect 

advice in the past to some DFRDB members and for any confusion 

and emotional impact this may have caused.  
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5. Commutation  

 Commutation is when a DFRDB member, on leaving the ADF, 

elects to convert a portion of their future retirement pension to a 

lump sum. The decision to commute is entirely voluntary. It is 

neither an advance nor a loan. The lump sum forms part of the 

member’s retirement benefit and the pension is permanently 

reduced.  

 The permanent reduction of the pension is to recognise that lump 

sum recipients obtain long-term advantage from the immediate 

use of their lump sum. 

 The Australian Government Actuary (the Actuary) has advised 

that any changes to the DFRDB scheme itself, including changes 

to commutation or life expectancy factors would involve 

significant Commonwealth costs, both prospective and 

retrospective.  

 The life expectancy factor is an element of the commutation 

calculation undertaken to determine a DFRDB member’s lump 

sum and resultant pension benefit. 

 The Actuary has also advised that the life expectancy factors 

should not be amended in isolation as they are a foundation 

principle of the DFRDB scheme, upon which all other benefits 

flow. Updating these factors will require updates to the overall 

scheme to effectively contemporise the scheme with how DFRDB 

would operate today. 

 The Actuary has further advised that at the time of introduction of 

the DFRDB scheme, the use of the 1960-62 Australian Life Tables 

as a commutation factor was favourable to members relative to 

the alternative pension. 
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6. Indexation  

 A beneficial change to indexation occurred in 2014 for DFRB and 

DFRDB retirement pay and reversionary recipients aged 55 and 

over. These pensions are now indexed in the same way as the 

age and service pensions paid by Services Australia and the 

Department of Veterans’ Affairs respectively and consistent with 

the recommendations in the 2007 Review into Military 

Superannuation Arrangements (the Podger Review). 
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Questions (if asked)  

1. What misleading information did Defence provide to 

DFRDB members? 

 The Ombudsman found that there were numerous examples of 

incorrect written and verbal information being circulated within 

Defence from commencement of the scheme in 1973 onwards. 

 The Ombudsman determined that the misleading and incorrect 

information helped create and reinforce a relatively widespread 

misunderstanding among DFRDB members that the retirement 

pay reduction due to commutation would cease on reaching life 

expectancy factor age. 

 These included: 

o Navy News (1982) which described commutation as an 

“interest-free loan”. 

o Air Force Personnel Information Handbook (1993) 

which explained that commutation was an amount “you 

are able to borrow … and repay that amount over your life 

expectancy”. 

o Navy pre-discharge handbook (1988) which explained 

that “the commuted amount is repaid over your remaining 

life expectancy”. 
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2. Why weren’t DFRDB members provided compensation 

because of the misleading information they received? 

 While the Ombudsman found that the misleading and incorrect 

information amounted to defective administration by Defence, 

he did not recommend compensation be provided in a broad 

sense, as defective administration alone does not mean a 

financial detriment has occurredto all the members who 

commuted because most, if not all of them were better off 

having elected to take the commutation lump sum. 

 The Ombudsman found that while unlikely, he could not rule 

out that there may be cases that a member may have suffered 

a financial detriment due to being provided misleading 

information. He deemed that the CDDA scheme would be 

suitable for any such cases to be considered. 

 

3. Why were the CDDA claims unsuccessful/denied? 

 For compensation to be payable under the CDDA scheme, 

claimants must be able to show that they have sustained 

financial detriment and not just suffered financial 

disappointment. 

 On examination of claimants’ circumstances, none of the 36 38 

applications were able to show how their situation differed from 

those who the Ombudsman’s commissioned modelling that 

showed they were generally better off having commuted. Most 

were in the cohort who used the commutation lump sum to 

help them purchase a house. 
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6. How was the internal review process done and who 

completed these decisions? 

 In accordance with the CDDA guidelines administered by the 

Department of Finance, internal reviews under the CDDA 

scheme are at the discretion of the relevant Agency. Defence is 

open to reviewing decisions if there is new evidence or a new 

argument to support the application.  

 Defence Legal accepted two decisions for review on the basis 

that the applicant raised new arguments that had not been 

addressed in the original decisions. The original decision was 

upheld in both cases despite the new arguments raised, as the 

members were still unable to demonstrate a financial 

detriment. The review decisions were signed off by the Acting 

Director and General Counsel of Defence Legal.  

 

7. Who is the decision maker in the Department for claims? 

 The Director, Employment Law and Discretionary Claims 

(previously Director, Special Financial Claims), in Defence 

Legal, made most of the decisions. Some decisions were made 

by the Assistant Director. One review decision was made by 

General Counsel-Defence. 
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8. How has the existence of the CDDA scheme been 

communicated to DFRDB members? 

 Members were directed to the relevant webpage in the letter of 

apology from the Secretary and CDF dated 3 December 2019, 

which was published on the Defence website and as an 

annexure to the Ombudsman’s report. Members are also 

directed to the apology and relevant webpage on the Defence 

website. 

 The Ombudsman and CSC websites also directed members to 

the relevant webpage. 

 Defence is also aware that affected DFRDB members were 

encouraged to claim by the Australian Defence Force Retirees 

Association Inc (ADFRA) on its website and in its newsletter. 

Many of the claims were copied directly from a template 

supplied to claimants by ADFRA 
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9. Why did the DFRDB scheme close?  

 DFRDB closed in 1991 to new members based on the report 

and findings of the “DFRDB scheme review committee” (the 

1990 Cole Review). The Review concluded that the DFRDB 

scheme was no longer appropriate for the majority of members 

of the ADF and did not adequately meet the ADF’s personnel 

management objectives.  

 The Review recommended the creation of a new scheme, and 

the replacement scheme, MSBS, was designed on the 

recommendations on the Review and had bipartisan support.   

 The Review consulted widely with the Defence community and 

paid particular importance to the unique nature of military 

service.  

 The Review determined that the design of DFRDB was not 

consistent with the operating standards prescribed under the 

Occupational Superannuation Standards Act 1987, which 

regulated all superannuation schemes in both the private and 

public sectors. 

 The Review also found DFRDB was particularly inappropriate 

for younger people joining the ADF as it provided a generous 

benefit” to those who serve for at least 20 years, but that it did 

not provide a return on member contributions for members 

who discharge before 20 years. 

 The Review also observed that as DFRDB provided a lump sum 

commutation and pension payable when a member discharged 

with at least 20 years of service (regardless of age), the 

scheme did not encourage members to serve beyond 20 years. 
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 This resulted in a loss of experienced ADF members in the 20-

22 years of service bracket, which was negatively impacting 

ADF personnel capability.   

 The Government of the day, when announcing the Review 

advised serving members “…that the benefits for which they 

are currently contributing will continue to be available to them 

when they leave the Defence Force”.  

 In 1991, DFRDB was closed to new members, but existing 

members could remain in DFRDB or elect to transfer to the new 

MSBS scheme. There was a period of 13 months provided, 

within which members could transfer from DFRDB to MSBS.  

 

10. How is DFRDB funded? 

 Funding for DFRDB pensions and entitlements is provided 

through Government appropriations, administered by 

Department of Finance. 

 

11. How is the DFRDB legislation managed? 

 The DFRDB scheme was established in 1973 under the Defence 

Force Retirement and Death Benefits Act 1973. Defence is 

responsible for the legislation and the policy relating to it. CSC, 

on behalf of the Government and Defence, administer DFRDB 

payments and entitlements for members. 

 Neither Defence nor CSC have the authority to change DFRDB 

legislation, arrangements or rules of the scheme. Any changes 

to the legislation are a matter for the Government, as DFRDB is 

an Act of Parliament.   
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12. How could changes to DFRDB be made? 

 Any changes to the legislation are a matter for the 

Government, as DFRDB is an Act of Parliament. There have 

been a number of reviews and amendments to DFRDB over the 

years, involving extensive consultation with members and 

veteran organisation.  

 The design of the scheme is complex and would require 

Government actuarial consideration to assess the impacts of 

any changes. Changes to one element of the scheme may 

result in both advantages and disadvantages to members 

based on their circumstances, particularly if there are any 

retrospective changes to the scheme.  

 The Government Actuary has previously advised that if the 

commutation factors for serving ADF members were changed 

and resulted in a higher benefit payable to members, it could 

potentially cost approximately $200 million to $300 million, but 

that this had not been formally costed. 

 If the pensions of members who commuted were restored to 

their pre-commutation amount and indexed, consideration 

would have to be given to how to deal with members who 

chose not to commute, who would be put at a disadvantage by 

comparison.  

 Any changes to DFRDB legislation would also need to consider 

the impact on those ADF members who made the election to 

either remain in DFRDB or elect to transfer to MSBS based on 

the scheme legislation which existed at that time. 
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13. What changes to the DFRDB legislation have occurred?  

 There have been a number of amendments to the DFRDB Act 

1973 since its inception, some following extensive Government 

directed reviews which included consultation with the Defence 

community:    

2014 – The indexation methodology for pensioners over the 

age of 55 changed and pensions are now indexed in the same 

way as age and service pensions. This is consistent with the 

recommendations in the 2007 Podger Review.  

2008 –2009 –Improvements were made to the eligibility 

requirements for some reversionary benefits. 

2007 – Spouse pensions on remarriage were no longer 

cancelled.  

2002 – Following the recommendation of the 2001 Watson 

Review, bi-annual CPI indexation was introduced.  

1990 – A 3% productivity benefit was introduced for 

contributing members and dependent spouses on the death of 

a contributing member were offered the option to commute a 

portion of their pension. That is, they could take a lump sum in 

exchange for a permanent reduction to their pension.  

1984 – The maximum amount of commutation available was 

increased progressively from four times annual rate of 

retirement pay in 1982 to five times annual rate of retirement 

pay in 2002.  

1977 - Automatic annual indexation using CPI introduced.  
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14. What are the key issues raised by campaigners? 

 There are a range of groups campaigning for beneficial changes 

to the DFRDB scheme. The general issues these groups are 

looking to have changed are:  

a. For those who commuted, some are seeking to have pensions 

increased to pre-reduction levels should the member exceed 

their Life Expectancy Factor.  

 Response: In accordance with the DFRDB Act, the decision 

to commute results in a permanent lifetime reduction in the 

member’s pension.  

b. To replace the existing Life Expectancy factors (which are 

based off the 1960-62 Australian Life Tables) with 

contemporary Life Expectancy factors, reflecting current life 

expectancies, with the aim of increasing pension amounts.  

 Response: The Actuary has advised that the life expectancy 

factors should not be amended in isolation as they are a 

foundation principle of the DFRDB scheme, upon which all 

other benefits flow. Updating these factors will require 

updates to the overall scheme to effectively contemporise 

the scheme with how DFRDB would operate today. There is 

also no guarantee that changes to these factors would 

result in increased pensions.  

c. To amend the current indexation arrangements as they believe 

that the CPI method has been inadequate over the years.  

 Response: Indexation arrangements for DFRDB pensions 

have been reviewed several times, and most recently in 

2014. The current indexation arrangements reflect the 

Government policy following that review.  
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Burke, Kathryn MS

From: Prout, Cathy MRS
Sent: Monday, 17 May 2021 5:21 PM
To: Craig, Jayne CAPT - RAN; Lilley, Frank MR 2; Brown, Robert AIRCDRE 24
Cc: Kropinski-Myers, Margot MS; McSpeerin, Fiona MS
Subject: RE: Senate FADT References Committee - Inquiry into DFRDB [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: Attachment B2_ DFRDB Senate Inquiry Talking Points.docx; Attachment F_ CSC 

Submission into the accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement 
and Death Benefits (DFRDB) members.pdf

OFFICIAL 

Good afternoon all, 
 
Further to the below, attached for your reference is the talking points we have prepared for FASPPC (David Nockels). 
 
As per the below, we are hoping you are able to provide some talking points from the perspective of the ADFFSCC, 
particularly to address part G of the terms of reference “the level of understanding among DFRDB members about 
how the legislation works, and ways to improve this”. In CSC’s submission (also attached), they have addressed part 
G from their perspective – “that the information provided by CSC and its predecessors was ‘at all times correct’” and 
that they implemented the Ombudsman’s recommendation that CSC strengthen their wording. 
 
Any input you could provide for David’s briefing, that would be fantastic. We are due to pre‐brief him tomorrow at 
4:30 and he is due to appear on Thursday at 11:15. 
 
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
 
 

From: Craig, Jayne CAPT ‐ RAN <jayne.craig@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Tuesday, 11 May 2021 10:59 AM 
To: Lilley, Frank MR 2 <frank.lilley2@defence.gov.au>; Brown, Robert AIRCDRE 24 
<robert.brown24@defence.gov.au> 
Cc: Kropinski‐Myers, Margot MS <margot.kropinski‐myers@defence.gov.au>; Prout, Cathy MRS 
<cathy.prout@defence.gov.au>; McSpeerin, Fiona MS <fiona.mcspeerin@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: Senate FADT References Committee ‐ Inquiry into DFRDB [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
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OFFICIAL 

Good morning Sir and Frank, 
 
As you are aware the Senate Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade’s is inquiring into Accuracy 
of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits (DFRDB) members. Details of the inquiry 
are provided in the email trail below. FYI, please find attached Defence’s submission for and covering letter from the 
Secretary of the Department of Defence and the Chief of the Australian Defence Force.  

We are preparing talking points for FAS PPC (David Nockels), who will be attending a committee hearing. The TPs 
will be based on the cover letter to the ADF submission (attached), however it would be appreciated if you could 
provide a few dot points, and a background paragraph regarding the ADFFSCC, and the financial education and info 
that the Centre provides to current and former ADF members. 
 
We will be able to send through a copy of the TPs after they have been drafted, but if you have any standard TPs 
that you have previously used, an early copy would be appreciated.  
Your input by the end of this week would be appreciated.  
 
Feel free to give myself or Cathy a call if you have any questions.  
 
Regards, 
 
Jayne Craig 
CAPT RAN 
Director Military Remuneration 
People Policy and Employment Conditions 
Department of Defence 
 
BP33-03-046 | Brindabella Park | PO Box 7927 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610 
P: (02) 5109 6240| M:  

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
 
 
 

 
Inquiry into the accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits 

(DFRDB) members 

On 18 March 2021, the Senate referred to the Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References Committee the
following matter for inquiry and report by 24 June 2021: 

The accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits (DFRDB) members, 
including: 

a. the accuracy of information provided to DFRDB members about the effects of commutation on future 
retirement pay entitlement, the consequences of this, and what remedial action (if any) could be taken; 

b. whether retirement payments were indexed as required by legislation and, if not, what remedial action (if 
any) could be taken; 

c. policy and legislative issues, including provisions for: 
i. use of certain life expectancy tables, 
ii. permanency of reductions to commuted pensions, 
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iii. indexation arrangements; and 
d. recommendations on any potential changes to administrative arrangements, policy or legislation; 
e. advice on costs associated with any recommendations; 
f. all relevant existing information and previous reviews in relation to DFRDB, including the findings of 

the Ombudsman's investigation; 
g. the level of understanding among DFRDB members about how the legislation works, and ways to 

improve this; and 
h. any related issues. 

The purpose of this letter is to draw your attention to the inquiry and to invite you or your organisation to make a
written submission to the committee by 30 April 2021.  

The committee prefers to receive submissions online as an attached document by accessing the committee website
and selecting the Upload Submission Online link:
https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Foreign Affairs Defen
ce and Trade/DFRDB  

Alternatively, submissions may be emailed as an attached document to fadt.sen@aph.gov.au or mailed to the 
address below: 

Committee Secretary 
Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References Committee 
PO Box 6100 
Parliament House 
Canberra ACT 2600 

Information relating to Senate committee inquiries, including notes to assist in the preparation of submissions for
a committee, can be located on the internet at
https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Making a submission. 
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

Counsel of Defence Legal.  
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

a financial detriment occurring on the basis of receiving 

misleading information, their CDDA claims cannot be approved.  

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

financial detriment has occurred. 

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
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4. What sort of claim would be successful? 

 Claimants would have to show how their situation differed from 

those who the modelling commissioned by the Ombudsman 

which showed they were generally better off having commuted. 

 Claimants would also need to provide evidence that they have 

sustained financial detriment and not just suffered financial 

disappointment. 

 

5. Can the claimant put in a new application if they have new 

information? 

 In accordance with the CDDA guidelines administered by the 

Department of Finance, internal reviews under the CDDA 

scheme are at the discretion of the relevant Agency. 

 Should a claimant’s review be declined, they may request a 

review to be undertaken by the Ombudsman. Defence is not 

aware of any claimants requesting the Ombudsman review 

their application under the CDDA scheme. 

  

Defence FOI 096/21/22 
Item 2, Document 12



10 
 

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
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29 April 2021  
 
 
Committee Secretary  
Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Committee  
Department of the Senate  
PO Box 6100  
Parliament House  
Canberra ACT 2600 
fadt.sen@aph.gov.au  
 
 
Dear Secretary 
 
Submission to the Senate Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Inquiry into the 
accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits (DFRDB) members. 
 
Please find attached the Commonwealth Superannuation Corporation (CSC) submission to the Senate 
Inquiry into the accuracy of information provided to DFRDB members, which is currently being conducted 
by the Senate Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade.  
 
CSC’s obligation as the body legally responsible for the administration of the DFRDB Scheme is to apply 
the relevant legislation and calculate retirees’ entitlements correctly. We are satisfied this has occurred in 
the past and CSC will continue to do so in the future.  
 
We trust this submission will be of assistance to the Committee's Inquiry.  

 
 
Yours sincerely 

Alana Scheiffers 
General Counsel 
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The Commonwealth Superannuation Corporation welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Senate 
Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Inquiry into the accuracy of information provided 
to DFRDB members.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The DFRDB Scheme was enacted by the Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits Act 1973 (‘DFRDB Act’).  
 
CSC assumed responsibility for the DFRDB Scheme on 1 July 2011: see Governance of Australian Government 
Superannuation Schemes Act 2011. At that time, ComSuper was the statutorily appointed administrator of the 
DFRDB Scheme. ComSuper ceased to exist from 1 July 2015, when it merged into CSC.  
 
Before 1 July 2011, the DFRDB Scheme was administered by the Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits 
Authority (DFRDB Authority) established under the DFRDB Act.  
 
The Australian Government Retirement Benefits Office (AGRBO) (later the Retirement Benefits Office (RBO) 
and then ComSuper) was responsible for the day-to-day administration of the DFRDB Scheme on behalf of the 
DFRDB Authority in the period from 1973 to 2011.   
 
RESPONSE TO TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
Schedule a) - the accuracy of information provided to DFRDB members about the effects of commutation on 
future retirement pay entitlement, the consequences of this, and what remedial action (if any) could be 
taken; 
 
An independent investigation conducted by the Commonwealth Ombudsman has concluded that the 
information provided by CSC and its predecessors was ‘at all times correct’1.  
 
CSC participated to the full extent possible in that investigation and, even though CSC did not exist for the vast 
majority of the period in question, ‘CSC provided a large quantity of historical documents’ dating back some 
40 years to the Ombudsman2. The Ombudsman found that CSC was ‘responsive and co-operative’ in providing 
‘significant amounts of information going back many decades’.3  
 
 
Schedule b) - whether retirement payments were indexed as required by legislation and, if not, what 
remedial action (if any) could be taken; 
 
An independent inquiry conducted by the Commonwealth Ombudsman has concluded indexation has been 
properly applied to DFRDB pensions by CSC and its predecessors. No remedial action is required. 
 
Annual indexation of DFRDB pensions was introduced from 1 July 1976. Subsequent indexation arrangements 
were legislated from time to time. 
 
Schedule c) - policy and legislative issues, including provisions for: 

i. use of certain life expectancy tables, 
ii. permanency of reductions to commuted pensions, 

iii. indexation arrangements;  

                                                
1 Foreword https://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0021/109128/FINAL-DFRDB-investigation-
report.pdf  
2 3.20 https://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0021/109128/FINAL-DFRDB-investigation-report.pdf 
3 Foreword https://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0021/109128/FINAL-DFRDB-investigation-
report.pdf  

Accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits (DFRDB) members
Submission 50 Defence FOI 096/21/22 

Item 2, Document 13



 

 
As the DFRDB Scheme operates under legislation, any changes would have to be made by amending legislation 
passed by Federal Parliament.  
 
The Department of Defence is responsible for the policy underlying the DFRDB Scheme. Concerns with the 
operation of the DFRDB Act are a matter of policy and not within CSC’s scope as the administrator of the 
DFRDB scheme.  
 
Schedule d) - recommendations on any potential changes to administrative arrangements, policy or 
legislation; 
 
In June 2018, the Office of the Hon Darren Chester MP, as Minister for Veteran’s Affairs and Defence 
Personnel, wrote to a CSC customer noting the Government had enacted beneficial changes to indexation in 
2014 and stated ‘there are no plans to make further changes to the DFRB and DFRDB schemes.’  
 
CSC is not aware of any changes to this Government policy since 2018.  
 
Schedule e) - advice on costs associated with any recommendations; 
 
The Department of Defence is responsible for the policy underlying the DFRDB Scheme. Concerns with the 
operation of the DFRDB Act are not within our scope as the administrator of the DFRDB scheme4.  
 
Depending on what changes are recommended, the costs could be substantial and would likely require 
additional funding to be provided to CSC to make the changes. 
 
Schedule f) - all relevant existing information and previous reviews in relation to DFRDB, including the 
findings of the Ombudsman's investigation; 
 
In December 2019, The Ombudsman released its Investigation report into the DFRDB scheme.  
 
In May 2020, CSC implemented all the (relatively minor) recommendations outlined in the Ombudsman’s 
investigation report. CSC later provided the Ombudsman with material confirming that implementation was 
successful.  
 
In August 2020, after reviewing the material provided, the Ombudsman stated it was satisfied the 
recommendations had been implemented.  
 
Schedule g) - the level of understanding among DFRDB members about how the legislation works, and ways 
to improve this;  
 
Comprehensive material about commutation was issued over the years, including circulars, letters and 
publications. The information provided by CSC and its predecessors was ‘at all times correct’5 and people 
could obtain information and confirm their understanding prior to making an election to commute. 
 
Recommendations from the Ombudsman’s Inquiry, which included strengthened wording to our already 
comprehensive information, were implemented by CSC in a timely manner.  
 
For all our contributors and pensioners, CSC publishes detailed material on key issues such as retirement 
benefits and commutation on our website, www.csc.gov.au. We strongly suggest that pensioners and 
contributors visit our website on a regular basis and thoroughly familiarise themselves with their entitlements.   
 

                                                
4 5.18 https://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0021/109128/FINAL-DFRDB-investigation-report.pdf 
5 Foreword https://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0021/109128/FINAL-DFRDB-investigation-
report.pdf 
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Schedule h) - any related issues 
 
Anecdotally, we are aware that the commutation option has been highly regarded by members of the Defence 
Force as it has assisted people to make the transition to civilian life (including allowing them to make choices 
for their financial future, such as paying off loans and/or purchasing property).  
 
IN CONCLUSION 
 
CSC’s obligation as the body legally responsible for the administration of the DFRDB Act is to apply the Act and 
calculate retirees’ entitlements correctly. We are satisfied this has occurred in the past and CSC will continue 
to do so in the future. 
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Burke, Kathryn MS

From: Kropinski-Myers, Margot MS
Sent: Wednesday, 19 May 2021 1:21 PM
To: Prout, Cathy MRS
Subject: FW: Senate FADT References Committee - Inquiry into DFRDB [SEC=OFFICIAL]

Importance: High

OFFICIAL 

Cathy  
for your awareness please see response from the Centres, hopefully we are not to late. 
Warm regards 
 
Margot Kropinski-Myers 
Director National Operations  
ADF Financial Services Consumer Centre  
People Capability Division 
Defence People Group 
Department of Defence 
 
www.adfconsumer.gov.au 
 
A: BP35‐3‐011 Brindabella Business Park P: PO Box 7909 Canberra BC ACT 2610 
M:
 

 
 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised 
communication and dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have 
received this email in error, you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
 
 

From: Robert Brown < >  
Sent: Wednesday, 19 May 2021 12:45 PM 
To: Craig, Jayne CAPT ‐ RAN <jayne.craig@defence.gov.au> 
Cc: Frank Lilley <frank.lilley@adfconsumer.gov.au>; Kropinski‐Myers, Margot MS <margot.kropinski‐
myers@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: Re: Senate FADT References Committee ‐ Inquiry into DFRDB [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
Importance: High 

 

⚠ EXTERNAL EMAIL: Do not click any links or open any attachments unless you trust 
the sender and know the content is safe. ⚠  

Hi Jayne, 
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Thanks for your email. I didn’t see your email to the DRN as it works intermittently for me as a reservist. 
Right now it’s off the air! So apologies for no response. Frank is in Darwin on business, so I’ll respond on 
behalf of both if us. Here are a few points, particularly with respect to item (g): 
 
1) The principal education role on the specifics of DFRDB is the responsibility of CSC which is the trustee. 
The Centre provides general education about superannuation, but refers personal and technical queries and 
problems about DFRDB to CSC;  
 
2) As trustee, their statutory role is to operate the fund in the members’ best interests which includes 
keeping members informed by general communication and responses to specific enquiries, both before they 
leave Defence and afterwards in pension phase (during which time former ADF members are still members 
of DFRDB); 
 
3) These days, there are few members left in the ADF who are also members of DFRDB (the latter closed to 
new members 30 years ago and most people moved to MSBS); 
 
4) As a result of 3) above, most of the education offerings to existing ADF members concentrate on MSBS 
and ADF Super, although education is available to DFRDB members (more on this below);  
 
5) Members of DFRDB are encouraged to request free one-on-one conversations with CSC people and to 
arrange personal financial advice with a CSC (or their own) licensed adviser if they need more; 
 
6) Defence (of which the ADF Financial Services Consumer Centre is a part) encourages CSC to offer 
seminars and one-on-ones to all current ADF members (and veterans). As a result, CSC educators offer 
regular presentations throughout Australia, although the concentration on DFRDB is naturally limited due to 
the small numbers; 
 
7) Recently (interrupted by COVID), the Centre has started a collaboration with CSC to facilitate more joint 
superannuation education programs on bases. A recent one occurred two weeks ago at Randwick Barracks. 
It was very well received. The format is an introduction by the Centre to explain the role of the trustee (a 
mystery to some members), followed by a CSC presentation, then questions facilitated by the Centre, 
followed by one-on-ones. Naturally, these program are substantially oriented towards MSBS, but include 
the opportunity for DFRDB members to ask questions and seek one-on-one consultations with CSC;  
 
8) Our observation is that the quality of CSC’s on-line and face-to-face education offering is high and well-
received; 
 
9) Our observation is that most DFRDB members are quite well informed, given their age and consequent 
level of interest in their superannuation. Unlike many younger people, this group is also motivated to 
understand their superannuation entitlements. Nevertheless, superannuation (especially defined benefit 
funds) is a complex topic and requires constant education and repetition of principal themes; 
 
10) It will be important that the education and opportunities for consultations on DFRDB continues beyond 
transition from the ADF.  
 
I trust this helps. If you have any queries, don’t hesitate to ask. 
 
regards, 
 
Robert 
 
Air Commodore Robert M C Brown AM FCA 
Chair 
ADF Financial Services Consumer Centre 
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www.adfconsumer.gov.au 
 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Australian Defence Organisation and is subject to the 
jurisdiction of section 70 of the Crimes Act 1914. If you have received this email in error, you are requested to 
contact the sender and delete the email. 

 

 
 

From: Craig, Jayne CAPT ‐ RAN <jayne.craig@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Tuesday, 18 May 2021 4:31 PM 
To: Kropinski‐Myers, Margot MS <margot.kropinski‐myers@defence.gov.au> 
Cc: Prout, Cathy MRS <cathy.prout@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: Senate FADT References Committee ‐ Inquiry into DFRDB [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Margot, I meant to drop round to discuss this SI with you. I haven’t heard anything from Robert 
or Frank following my email of last week. 
 
Do you have some TPs on hand that we can use for the SI?  
 
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
 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised 
communication and dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If 
you have received this email in error, you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email 
immediately. 
 
 

From: Prout, Cathy MRS <cathy.prout@defence.gov.au>  
Sent: Monday, 17 May 2021 5:21 PM 
To: Craig, Jayne CAPT ‐ RAN <jayne.craig@defence.gov.au>; Lilley, Frank MR 2 
<frank.lilley2@defence.gov.au>; Brown, Robert AIRCDRE 24 <robert.brown24@defence.gov.au> 
Cc: Kropinski‐Myers, Margot MS <margot.kropinski‐myers@defence.gov.au>; McSpeerin, Fiona MS 
<fiona.mcspeerin@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: Senate FADT References Committee ‐ Inquiry into DFRDB [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Good afternoon all, 
 
Further to the below, attached for your reference is the talking points we have prepared for FASPPC 
(David Nockels). 
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As per the below, we are hoping you are able to provide some talking points from the perspective of 
the ADFFSCC, particularly to address part G of the terms of reference “the level of understanding 
among DFRDB members about how the legislation works, and ways to improve this”. In CSC’s 
submission (also attached), they have addressed part G from their perspective – “that the 
information provided by CSC and its predecessors was ‘at all times correct’” and that they 
implemented the Ombudsman’s recommendation that CSC strengthen their wording. 
 
Any input you could provide for David’s briefing, that would be fantastic. We are due to pre‐brief 
him tomorrow at 4:30 and he is due to appear on Thursday at 11:15. 
 
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
 
As you are aware the Senate Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade’s is 
inquiring into Accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits 
(DFRDB) members. Details of the inquiry are provided in the email trail below. FYI, please find 
attached Defence’s submission for and covering letter from the Secretary of the Department of 
Defence and the Chief of the Australian Defence Force. 

We are preparing talking points for FAS PPC (David Nockels), who will be attending a committee 
hearing. The TPs will be based on the cover letter to the ADF submission (attached), however it 
would be appreciated if you could provide a few dot points, and a background paragraph regarding 
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the ADFFSCC, and the financial education and info that the Centre provides to current and former 
ADF members. 
 
We will be able to send through a copy of the TPs after they have been drafted, but if you have any 
standard TPs that you have previously used, an early copy would be appreciated. 
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
 
 
 

 

Inquiry into the accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death 
Benefits (DFRDB) members 

On 18 March 2021, the Senate referred to the Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References 
Committee the following matter for inquiry and report by 24 June 2021: 
The accuracy of information provided to Defence Force Retirement and Death Benefits 
(DFRDB) members, including: 

a. the accuracy of information provided to DFRDB members about the effects of 
commutation on future retirement pay entitlement, the consequences of this, and what 
remedial action (if any) could be taken; 

b. whether retirement payments were indexed as required by legislation and, if not, what 
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

d. recommendations on any potential changes to administrative arrangements, policy or 
legislation; 

e. advice on costs associated with any recommendations; 

f. all relevant existing information and previous reviews in relation to DFRDB, including 
the findings of the Ombudsman's investigation; 
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g. the level of understanding among DFRDB members about how the legislation works, and 
ways to improve this; and 

h. any related issues. 

The purpose of this letter is to draw your attention to the inquiry and to invite you or your 
organisation to make a written submission to the committee by 30 April 2021.  
The committee prefers to receive submissions online as an attached document by accessing the 
committee website and selecting the Upload Submission Online 
link:https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Foreig
n Affairs Defence and Trade/DFRDB 

Alternatively, submissions may be emailed as an attached document to fadt.sen@aph.gov.au 
or mailed to the address below: 

Committee Secretary 
Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References Committee 
PO Box 6100 
Parliament House 
Canberra ACT 2600 

Information relating to Senate committee inquiries, including notes to assist in the preparation of 
submissions for a committee, can be located on the internet 
athttps://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Making a submission. 
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Hoogland, Lewis MR 1

From: Hoogland, Lewis MR 1
Sent: Wednesday, 19 May 2021 1:43 PM
To: Prout, Cathy MRS
Subject: ADFFSCC draft TPs
Attachments: Document2.docx

OFFICIAL 

 
 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
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How does Defence currently ensure there is a high level of understanding about the DFRDB scheme 
among members and pensioners?  

 The principle education role on the specifics of the all Military superannuation schemes, 
including DFRDB is the responsibility of CSC.  

 Defence established the ADF Financial Services Consumer Centre in 2006 to provide 
financial and consumer education to ADF members, but not personal advice. The Centre 
provides resource material to assist members to make informed decisions and plans about 
their financial affairs and options, including superannuation.    

 The Centre encourages ADF members to request free one-on-one conversations with CSC 
educators and to arrange personal financial advice with a licensed advisor.  

 CSC educators offer regular presentations throughout Australia 
 The Centre has started a collaboration with CSC to facilitate more joint superannuation 

education programs on bases. The format is an introduction by the Centre to explain the 
role of the trustee followed by a CSC presentation, then questions facilitated by the Centre, 
followed by one-on-ones. While these programs are oriented towards MSBS, they include 
the opportunity for DFRDB members to ask questions and seek one-on-one consultations 
with CSC;  
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Burke, Kathryn MS

From: Prout, Cathy MRS
Sent: Thursday, 20 May 2021 10:41 AM
To: Nockels, David MR; Webster, Donna MS
Cc: Craig, Jayne CAPT - RAN; 1 Reilly (anthony.reilly1@defence.gov.au)
Subject: Extract of Jess Committee - Commutation [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hi David, 
 
For your reference, Ellerbock referenced the Jess Committee saying it was an “interest‐free loan” I can’t find any 
reference to that. The extract from the recommendation was: 
 
(14) COMMUTATION 
(a) That provided that the option is exercised within twelve months from 
date of retirement a recipient member should be entitled to commute 
an amount not exceeding four times the amount of the annual retired pay 
entitlement payable to him in the first year of his retirement. 
(b) That retired pay proportionately reduced in relation to commutation 
remain payable after commutation. 
(c) That for the purpose of determining a widow's entitlement commutation 
should be disregarded. 
(d) That invalid pay and a widow's annuity should not be capable of 
commutation. 
(e) That the implementation of this proposal should not affect existing 
rights of pensioners under the existing D.F.R.B. legislation. 
 
The only reference to loans we can find are about gratuities, and that loans in the scheme shouldn’t be offered. 
 
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
P: (02) 5109 8335 M:  E: cathy.prout@defence.gov.au  
 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
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